#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### No. 2007-DP-01218

WILLIAM WILSON

**APPELLANT** 

٧.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

# BRIEF OF APPELLANT APPEALED FROM LEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

André de Gruy Miss. Bar No. Office of Capital Defense Counsel 510 George Street, Suite 300 Jackson MS 3902 (601) 576-2315

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies pursuant to Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure 28(a)(1) that the following persons have an interest in the outcome of the case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AND ARBITRARILY AND CAPRICIOUSLY REFUSED TO ACCEPT WILSON'S GUILTY PLEA THEREBY PREVENTING WILSON FROM ACCEPTING A PLEA BARGAIN AGREEMENT THAT WOULD HAVE SPARED HIS LIFE OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE WILSON WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL RESULTING IN HIS LOSS OF THE PLEA BARGAIN ALL IN VIOLATION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.
- 2. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED MISCONDUCT BY IMPROPERLY CROSS EXAMINING MITIGATION WITNESSES AND THEREBY DEPRIVED WILSON OF A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR SENTENCING AND MANDATES HIS DEATH SENTENCE BE VACATED.
- 3. THE ADMISSION OF TESTIMONY BY DR. STEVEN HAYNE UNDERMINES THE RELIABILITY OF THE DEATH SENTENCE IMPOSED IN THIS CASE AND PRESENTS QUESTIONS OF IMPROPER EXPERT TESTIMONY AND INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.
- 4. THE INTRODUCTION OF IMPROPER VICTIM IMPACT TESTIMONY VIOLATED THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE 3, SECTIONS 14, 26, AND 28 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION.
- 5. CUMULATIVE ERROR REQUIRES REVERSAL OF THE CONVICTION AND SENTENCE IN THIS MATTER.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

William Wilson was indicted for capital murder, defined as killing while engaged in the commission of felonious child abuse, and felonious child abuse by a Lee County Grand Jury.

C.P. 5-6; R.E. 9-10. The offenses were said to have occurred on April 29, 2005, and January 19, 2005, in Lee County. C.P. 5.

Wilson was represented in the trial court by court appointed attorneys Will Bristow and James Johnstone. Wilson entered a guilty plea to both counts on May 24, 2007. T. 217. Wilson proceeded to sentencing before the court without a jury on both counts. The court sentenced Wilson to twenty years on Count II and sentenced Wilson to death on Count I. C.P. 151-54; R.E. 11-14. Bristow filed a Motion was New Trial, C.P. 165-66; R.E. 16-17, which was denied, C.P. 170; R.E. 18.

After perfecting the appeal Bristow filed a Motion to Withdraw and Substitute the Office of Capital Defense Counsel which was granted by this Court on February 27, 2008. This appeal is limited to issues related to the death sentence. Miss. Code § 99-19-105; <u>Booker v. State</u>, 699 So.2d 132, 33-34, 36-37; ¶¶ 3 and 20-22 (Miss. 1997).

#### Statement of Facts

After over a year of discord between Wilson and his lawyers as well as the lawyers and the prosecution, Wilson and the prosecution reached a plea agreement in this matter. Wilson agreed to plead guilty to the charges in the indictment and the prosecution agreed to forgo seeking the death penalty. Both sides signed a written agreement. (State's Exhibit 3 from 3/5/07). On March 5, 2007, Wilson appeared before Judge Gardner to formally enter his plea. T. 178.

At the end of the plea colloquy, after the prosecution had made its offer of proof, Wilson had entered his pleas of guilty agreeing with each and every element presented by the

prosecution and after the court was satisfied that the pleas were knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently made, the court asked Wilson if he was satisfied with the services of his lawyers.

At this point the court already knew the answer to the question. In a letter to Judge Gardner stamp filed by the circuit clerk on March 5, 2007, Wilson advised the court that he was not satisfied with his attorneys because they were not communicating with him. C.P. 125-27. As expected Wilson advised the court he was not "totally satisfied" with his lawyers. T. 204. The court then abruptly ended the proceeding refusing to accept the pleas of guilty and sent Wilson back to the jail. T. 205.

The communication issues mentioned in the first letter were set forth in greater detail in a second letter to the trial court from Wilson dated May 15, 2007. C.P. 167-69. The attorney's request for compensation prove that between March 5, 2007 and May 15, 2007, Johnstone never communicated with Wilson, C.P. 162, and Bristow wrote one letter and saw Wilson for no more than thirty minutes while the special venire was pulled. C.P. 159.

Less than 10 days after sending the second letter to the court, Wilson stood before the court and said he was satisfied with counsel. T. 208. The trial court then accepted the pleas. T. 217.

The case then proceeded to sentencing before the trail court. The defense called three witnesses in mitigation. Jan Stembridge, Wilson's former teacher, T. 319; Josh Estes, Wilson's friend, T. 328, and Nancy McGee, Wilson's mother T. 337. The prosecutor cross examined each of these witness extensively about alleged drug abuse by Wilson and Stembridge about an alleged assault on the victim's mother. T. 327. Ms. Stembridge had no knowledge of drug history or assaults yet the prosecutor went into detail with allegations. T. 324-26, 327. Estes had limited knowledge of Wilson smoking marijuana (a fact already in evidence) but no knowledge of any other drug abuse. T. 332. The prosecutor used similar tactics in cross-examining

Wilson's mother. T. 356.

The questioning of Stembridge was particularly egregious and constituted the majority of her cross-examination. T. 324-26. There is no evidence in the record now before this Court to support the prosecutions questions. No witness was called to establish an evidentiary basis for these questions.

During the prosecutions case Dr. Steven Hayne was called to testify in support of the "especially heinous" aggravating circumstance. The death sentence rests heavily on Hayne's testimony, C.P. 152-53, and he was the witness through whom numerous photographs of the deceased child were introduced. T. 294.

The defense filed a motion for funds to hire a pathologist, C.P. 104-05, but did not support this motion with an affidavit of an expert as required by this Court and instructed to do by the trial court. T. 24. Thus defense counsel had no means of challenging Dr. Hayne other than cross-examination. Counsel's attempt at cross examination was virtually incoherent. T. 313-14.

Hayne testified that he was the "Chief State Pathologist for the Department of Public Safety in the State of Mississippi." T. 291. This testimony is not true. There is no such position and Hayne does not meet the qualifications to serve as the State Medical Examiner.

Mr. Bennie Conlee, the victim's grandfather was the final witness called. T. 368. Mr. Conlee was asked what he believed the appropriate punishment would be and he unequivocally asked fro the death penalty. T. 372.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

William Wilson appeared before the trial court and entered a knowing, intelligent and voluntary plea to the charge of capital murder. The court arbitrarily refused to accept this plea because Wilson expressed displeasure with the attorneys appointed by the court to represent him.

Wilson's reasons for his lack of total satisfaction were known to the court yet the court neither explored those reasons nor vacated the appointment. As a result of the court's arbitrary action or the ineffective assistance of counsel Wilson lost to opportunity to accept the prosecutions plea bargain offer to not seek the death penalty.

During the sentencing hearing Wilson presented three mitigation witnesses. The prosecution cross-examined each of these witnesses with allegations of extensive drug abuse by Wilson however the prosecution called no witnesses to establish the evidentiary basis for these questions nor is there a basis in the record before this Court.

During the prosecutions case Dr. Steven Hayne was called to present evidence in support of the aggravating factors. The court relied on Hayne's testimony in sentencing Wilson to death. Based on the questions raised in numerous cases and publications concerning Hayne's credibility and the reliability of his practices including at least misleading if not false testimony in this case undermines the reliability and fairness of the death sentence.

Finally the prosecution's eliciting the victim's family's opinion on the appropriate sentence was improper.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### Standard of Review

This Court's longstanding practice where the defendant has been convicted of capital murder and sentenced to death, the standard of review this Court applies is different than in other matters. Walker v. State, 913 So.2d 198 (Miss. 2005) at ¶¶ 43-44. Such convictions and sentences must be subjected to "heightened scrutiny." Balfour v. State, 598 So. 2d 731, 739 (Miss. 1992) (citing Smith v. State, 499 So. 2d 750, 756 (Miss. 1986)). This heightened scrutiny means that the Court will, *inter alia*,

consider trial errors for the cumulative impact. We apply our plain error rule with less stringency. We relax enforcement of our contemporaneous objection rule. We

resolve serious doubts in favor of the accused ... as procedural niceties give way to the search for substantial justice, all because death undeniably is different." Hansen v. State, 592 So. 2d 114, 142 (Miss.1991) (internal citations omitted).

Under this method of review, all genuine doubts are to be resolved in favor of the accused because "what may be harmless error in a case with less at stake becomes reversible error when the penalty is death." <u>Id</u>. (quoting *Irving v. State*, 361 So. 2d 1360, 1363 (Miss.1978)). <u>See also Fisher v. State</u>, 481 So. 2d 203, 211 (Miss.1985).

Walker, 913 So.2d at 216, ¶¶ 43-44.

#### Issues

1. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AND ARBITRARILY AND CAPRICIOUSLY REFUSED TO ACCEPT WILSON'S GUILTY PLEA THEREBY PREVENTING WILSON FROM ACCEPTING A PLEA BARGAIN AGREEMENT THAT WOULD HAVE SPARED HIS LIFE OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE WILSON WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL RESULTING IN HIS LOSS OF THE PLEA BARGAIN ALL IN VIOLATION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

Wilson is now before this Court on direct appeal of his death sentence. He is not appealing and raises no claim here regarding the guilty plea entered on May 24, 2007. In this claim set forth as Issue 1, Wilson argues in the alternative that the trial court erred in refusing to accept Wilson's March 5, 2007, guilty plea or that the reason the March 5 plea was not accepted was a result of ineffective assistance of trial counsel.

These claims or so factual intertwined that presenting them as separate claims is impossible. To conform to Rules of Appellate Procedure Wilson enumerates the claims as Issue 1(a) the trail courts arbitrary and capricious rejection of a plea bargain and 1(b) ineffective assistance of counsel resulting in Wilson's lose of the plea bargain.

If this Court determines that the ineffective assistance claim requires additional factual development consistent with due process Wilson must be allowed to present the evidence in support. Branch v. State, 882 So.2d 36 (Miss. 2004). Accordingly, Wilson reserves this claim for post-conviction review if that is necessary. Havard v. State, 928 So.2d 771 (Miss. 2006).

The prosecution and Wilson reached a plea agreement in this matter. Wilson agreed to plead guilty to the charges in the indictment and the prosecution agreed to forgo seeking the death penalty. Both sides signed a written agreement. (State's Exhibit 3 from 3/5/07). On March 5, 2007, Wilson appeared before Judge Gardner to formally enter his plea. T. 178.

At the end of the plea colloquy, after the prosecution had made its offer of proof, Wilson had entered his pleas of guilty agreeing with each and every element presented by the prosecution and after the court was satisfied that the pleas were knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently made, the court asked Wilson if he was satisfied with the services of his lawyers.

At this point the court already knew the answer to the question. In a letter to Judge Gardner stamp filed by the circuit clerk on March 5, 2007, Wilson advised the court that he was not satisfied with his attorneys because they were not communicating with him. C.P. 125-27. As expected Wilson advised the court he was not "totally satisfied" with his lawyers. T. 204. The court then abruptly ended the proceeding refusing to accept the pleas of guilty and sent Wilson back to the jail. T. 205. The prosecution immediately announced they would seek the death penalty. T. 205.

While trial courts may decline to accept a guilty plea "in the exercise of sound discretion," Bennett v. State, 933 So.2d 930, 940-41 (Miss. 2006), a court may not reject a plea for arbitrary or capricious reasons unbounded by principles of law. See Black's Law Dictionary (Judicial and legal discretion). For the reasons set forth below, it can be concluded that the court's decision to refuse to accept the plea was arbitrary and capricious.

In any criminal case the court's action would be error, in this case because the abuse of discretion resulted in the eventual imposition of a death sentence it rises to violations of the state and federal constitutional rights to due process and to be free from cruel and unusual punishment found in the Fifth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States

and Sections 14 and 28 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890.

Wilson concedes that had the court been concerned that Wilson was not receiving constitutionally adequate counsel the court would have been justified in terminating the plea hearing and also in terminating the services of the attorneys. This does not appear to be the court's concern. The court made no investigation into Wilson's complaints. Mere dissatisfaction, or more accurately, less than "total satisfaction" with counsel is not a basis to vacate a plea thus cannot justify refusing to accept the plea.

The trial court simply expressed no concern about the quality of representation at all.

The court made no inquiry concerning the communication issues. The communication issues were set forth in greater detail in a second letter to the trial court from Wilson dated May 15, 2007. C.P. 167-69. The attorney's request for compensation prove that between March 5, 2007 and May 15, 2007, Johnstone never communicated with Wilson, C.P. 162, and Bristow wrote one letter and saw Wilson for no more than thirty minutes while the special venire was pulled. C.P. 159.

Less than 10 days after sending the second letter to the court, Wilson stood before the court and said he was satisfied with counsel. T. 208. The trial court then accepted the pleas. T. 217. There had been no improvement in the relationship between counsel and client, nor a demonstrable improvement in counsels' performance.

It is apparent that the trial court's concerns were not based on the quality of representation but rather on the defendant saying he was not satisfied. Because counsel in this case was selected by the trial court and not Wilson it is reasonable to assume that the sole reason the first plea which would have guaranteed Wilson a life sentence, was rejected by the court was that Wilson's lack of total satisfaction with counsel reflected on the court personally. Without question an arbitrary and capricious rejection of the pleas.

If this Court were to give the trial court the benefit of the doubt and assume the court was concerned about the quality of representation, it must hold that the trial court failed in its responsibility to ensure effective assistance of counsel. Had the court evaluated counsels' performance rather than punishing the defendant for raising a legitimate complaint the court would have been compelled to remove counsel. At that point the only remedy available for the constitutional violation would have been to allow Wilson the benefit of his bargain. Turner v. Tennessee, 940 F.2d 1000 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991) (where conviction is reversed because of ineffective assistance of counsel in decision to reject a plea offer failure to reinstate the offer constitutes prosecutorial vindictiveness); Hoffman v. Arave, 455 F.3<sup>rd</sup> 926 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir 2006) (where counsel's deficient performance causes plea to be rejected the remedy is to force state to reinstate offer).

The court recognized its responsibility to ensure a fair trail, T. 204, yet confronted with an allegation of clearly deficient performance by appointed counsel the court took no action to investigate the matter or protect Wilson's rights. In <u>The Mississippi Bar v. Raymond Wong</u>, 2007-B-84, filed June 28, 2007, an attorney was suspended from the practice of law for six months for very similar conduct to that complained of by Wilson, i.e., failure to communicate with an incarcerated criminal defendant the lawyer had been appointed to represent. <u>Id</u>. at ¶ 13.

There are significant differences in the case that led to Wong's suspension and what the trial court knew in the instant case. Unlike Wilson, there is no indication that Wong's client was facing the death penalty.<sup>2</sup> And unlike Wong who had only received a prior private reprimand,

The Supreme Court of the United States granted Idaho's petition for certiorari. Arave v. Hoffman, 128 S.Ct. 532 (2007). The judgment of the Ninth Circuit was later vacated and remanded with instructions to the Ninth Circuit to dismiss the claim as moot following an agreement between Idaho and Hoffman that resulted in him being sentenced to life. See Arave v. Hoffman, 128 S.Ct. 749 (2008). In its petition for certiorari Idaho argued that there was no remedy for ineffective assistance of counsel in plea bargaining when the defendant was later convicted in a fair trial. The prosecution cannot make such an argument in this case because Wilson has never had a trial, at a minimum he would be entitled to have that.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See American Bar Association Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases, Guideline 10.5 – Relationship with the Client; Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 524 (2003)

Bristow had received a prior public reprimand. The Mississippi Lawyer, June 2005 at pp. 36-37.

Moreover, but for counsels' failure to adequately communicate with Wilson prior to the March 5, 2007, hearing, the plea would have been accepted as it was in May. The prejudice to Wilson is obvious and literally the difference between life and death. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), holds that in order to establish ineffective assistance of counsel a defendant must establish both that his attorney's representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness," id. at 688, and that the defendant was "prejudiced" by his attorney's substandard performance. Id. at 692. This standard applies to claims of ineffective assistance related to guilty pleas. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58 (1985).

The "first half of the <u>Strickland v. Washington</u> test is nothing more than a restatement" of familiar standards. <u>Hill</u>, 474 U.S. at 58, (question is whether "counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness."). As to the second prong, the focus is on "whether counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process." Hill, 474 U.S. at 59.

In this case there is of course a fairly unique twist. Wilson is not now seeking to vacate a plea based on ineffective assistance of counsel but rather is seeking the benefit of the plea bargain that he lost because of ineffective assistance of counsel. Nonetheless, ineffective assistance of counsel that causes a defendant to reject a plea is a viable claim just as ineffective assistance that causes a defendant to plea. See Davis v. State, 743 So.2d 326, 343 (Miss. 1999) (An attorney who fails to relay a plea offer to a client in a capital murder case in a way that the client can consider the agreement in making his decision to face trial meets the requirements of deficient conduct and prejudice under Strickland where the client is convicted and sentenced to death.); People v. Curry, 178 III.2d 509, 687 N.E.2d 877, 887 (1997) (ineffective assistance

<sup>(</sup>ABA Guidelines are "guides to determining what is reasonable"); see also Walker v. State, 913 So.2d 198 (Miss. 2005) at ¶¶ 43-44 (death sentences must be subjected to "heightened scrutiny").

where defense counsel's recommendation to reject plea offer predicated on plainly erroneous understanding of sentencing law); State v. Kraus, 397 N.W.2d 671, 672-73 (Iowa 1986) (defense counsel's inaccurate legal advise which prompted defendant to reject plea bargain was ineffective assistance of counsel).

Based on the evidence before the trial court and now before this court there are only two possible conclusions that can be drawn. Either the trial court acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner and abused its discretion in refusing to accept Wilson's guilty plea or trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel resulting in Wilson not being sentenced to life rather than death.

Accordingly this Court must now vacate Wilson's death sentence and remand this cause to Lee County Circuit Court for imposition of a sentence of Life without Parole.

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