IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM MATTHEW WILSON,

Appellant

versus

NO. 2007-DP-01218-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM HOOD

ATTORNEY GENERAL STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PAT McNAMARA SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Miss. Bar No.

MARVIN L. WHITE, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

Office of the Attorney General Post Office Box 220 Jackson, Mississippi 39205 (601) 359-3680

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

Wilson's attempt to attack his guilty pleas on direct appeal is barred and as such this issue is due to be dismissed.

II. WILSON'S CLAIM THAT THE PROSECUTION ENGAGED IN MISCONDUCT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Wilson next contends that the prosecutor engaged in misconduct by improperly crossexamining his mitigation witnesses during the penalty phase and therefore the death sentence must be vacated. Wilson argues the prosecution questioned defense mitigation witnesses, primarily his former teacher Jan Stembridge, concerning Wilson's past drug abuses. Wilson argues error by claiming there was nothing in the record, as he found it prior to filing his appeal brief, to support the prosecutions questions.

Wilson did not offer any objection to the prosecutor's cross-examination of any witness nor did Wilson raise the issue for consideration in his motion for new trial or JNOV and is therefore barred from presenting the argument for the first time on appeal. As to this

14

issue this Court has previously held:

¶ 53. Watts next raises four instances of alleged prosecutorial misconduct arising from comments made during the closing arguments of both the guilt and sentencing phases of his trial. He contends that the cumulative effect of these comments warrants reversal of his case. Watts made no objection to the comments at trial and the issue of prosecutorial misconduct was not raised in his motion for a new trial. Despite his assertion that prosecutorial misconduct must be reviewed on appeal despite counsel's failure to object, FN6 the assignment of error is procedurally barred. Jackson, 684 So.2d at 1226; Chase, 645 So.2d at 854. As this Court explained in Jackson, where it was alleged that the prosecutor made improper comments during both opening and closing arguments as well as while examining witnesses, but no objections were raised at trial, " '[t]he defendant who fails to make a contemporaneous objection must rely on plain error to raise the assignment on appeal.'" Id. at 1226 (quoting Foster v. State, 639 So.2d 1263, 1289 (Miss.1994)). Moreover, the contemporaneous objection rule remains applicable in capital murder cases. Evans v. State, 1997 WL 562044, 725 So.2d 613 (Miss.1997); Williams v. State, 684 So.2d 1179, 1203 (Miss.1996).

FN6. *Cabello v. State*, 471 So.2d 332 (Miss.1985), upon which Watts relies for this proposition, does not even suggest that alleged prosecutorial misconduct must be addressed on appeal even if no objections were made during trial. Rather, the Court merely addressed the assignment of error quite briefly, observed that no objection had been made at trial and found the Appellant's proposition to be without merit. Id. at 346.

Watts v. State, 733 So.2d 214, 232-33 (Miss.1999).

As Wilson declined to object to the cross-examination conducted by the prosecution during the sentencing hearing and also did not raise the issue in the motion for a new trial or JNOV he is procedurally barred from raising such at this time on appeal. *Id. See also Moawad v. State*, 531 So.2d 632, 634 (Miss.1998) (trial judge cannot be put in error on matter not presented to him for decision); *Walker v. State*, 823 So.2d 557 (Miss.App.2002) (failure to raise issue at trial level bars consideration at appellant level). Therefore this

assignment of error is procedurally barred from review by this Court. *Howard v. State*, 507 So.2d 58, 63 (Miss.1987).

Without waiving the procedural bar the appellee addresses the possibility of plain error as to this issue. This Court has set the standard for a showing of plain error as an error so fundamental that it creates a miscarriage of justice. Error is plain when it violates the substantive rights of a defendant. *Dixon v. State*, 953 So.2d 1108, 1116(\P 22) (Miss.2007). The circumstances surrounding this claim by Wilson can not rise to the level of plain error as all parties involved in the hearing were fully aware of the factual basis for the complained of questions, those of past drug abuse posed to the witnesses, and were known to all parties.

Prior to the taking of Wilson's guilty plea the court below ordered that the mental evaluation report conducted on Wilson be reviewed in detail by Wilson and his attorneys and that a copy of the report be made a part of the record.² Tr. 38-40. It is not possible that Wilson's substantive rights were violated and no miscarriage of justice was applicable on this issue as it is clear that each question asked of the witnesses and complained of here by the appellant was covered in the mental evaluation report. This issue is procedurally barred and alternatively without merit as it does not rise to the level of plain error and is therefore due to be dismissed.

²For reasons unknown, the mental evaluation report was not included in the record despite the court's granting of the motion to do so. Tr. 40. However, the report is referenced in the questioning of Wilson prior to his plea and is included as an exhibit in Wilson's post conviction motion filed in the Lee County Circuit Court. *See* Petition for Post-Conviction Relief, CV08-074GL, Exhibit 5, attached hereto as Appendix "A".

III. WILSON'S CLAIM THAT DR. HAYNE'S TESTIMONY SOMEHOW UNDERMINES THE SENTENCE'S RELIABILITY IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

In his next issue raised, Wilson contends that there are issues not fully developed for direct appeal review regarding the testimony of Dr. Steven Hayne and that he may present those arguments in a post-conviction relief motion in this case.

Wilson did not offer any objection to the acceptance of Dr. Hayne as an expert in the area of forensic pathology and besides a general objection to the photographs relied upon by Dr. Hayne in his testimony there was no objection at all. Tr. 293-94. Nor did Wilson raise any issue for consideration regarding Dr. Hayne's testimony in his motion for new trial or JNOV and is therefore barred from presenting the argument for the first time on appeal. *See Moawad*, 531 So.2d 632, 634 (Miss.1998) (trial judge cannot be put in error on matter not presented to him for decision); *Walker*, 823 So.2d 557 (Miss.App.2002) (failure to raise issue at trial level bars consideration at appellant level). Therefore this assignment of error is procedurally barred from review by this Court. *Howard*, 507 So.2d 58, 63 (Miss.1987).

Alternatively, without waiving any applicable bar, an examination of the merits of the claim shows there is no merit. Wilson confines his contention here on direct appeal to the nonsensical argument that merely because Dr. Hayne was involved in this case that the death sentence should be vacated. Wilson takes issue that Dr. Hayne listed, in answer to the question "what is it you do for a living?" to working as the Chief State Pathologist for the Department of Public Safety among other things. Relying upon the concurring opinion of Justice Diaz, in *Edmonds v. State*, 955 So.2d 787, 802-03 (Miss.2007), Wilson determines

that Dr. Hayne does not qualify to hold such office. What Wilson ignores is that Dr. Hayne was tendered and accepted, without objection, as a forensic pathologist, not as the Chief Pathologist of the State. Even Justice Diaz, in the concurring opinion, concedes that the majority in *Edmonds* finds "Dr. Hayne qualified to proffer expert opinions in forensic pathology". At 802, ¶ 46.

The majority in *Edmonds* remanded for a new trial based in part on its determination that Dr. Hayne testified outside of his area of expertise and had no problems with Hayne's testimony that fell squarely inside the realm of forensic pathology. At 792, ¶ 8.

Wilson does not question Dr. Hayne's testimony regarding Malorie's autopsy results that are consistent with the information confessed to by Wilson as to the pain, history of injuries, and fatal beating he inflicted upon the child. Tr. 291-316. As Dr. Hayne has been found by this Court to be a qualified expert in the field of forensic pathology and Wilson has failed to present any credible evidence to the contrary in support of his argument this issue is due to be dismissed. *Duplantis v. State*, 708 So.2d 1327, 1339 ¶ 46 (Miss.1998) (Dr. Hayne is unquestionably qualified to testify in our courts as a forensic pathologist).

Additionally, *Edmonds* is clearly not applicable to this case and as such Wilson has failed to cite any relevant authority in support of his argument and is due to be dismissed. *Byrom v. State*, 863 So.2d 836, 863 (Miss.2003). Wilson only adds vague references to newspaper articles about unnamed individuals and speculatory references to state legislation.

18

IV. WILSON'S CLAIM OF IMPROPER VICTIM IMPACT TESTIMONY IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Wilson next contends that the prosecutor engaged in misconduct by improperly eliciting a victim impact witness' view as to proper punishment for Wilson and therefore the death sentence must be vacated.

Wilson did not offer any objection to the prosecutor's questioning of Malorie's paternal grandfather Bennie Conlee, nor did he raise any objection to the statement made by Mr. Conlee. Neither did Wilson raise the issue for consideration in his motion for new trial or JNOV and is therefore barred from presenting the argument for the first time on appeal. *See Moawad*, 531 So.2d 632, 634 (Miss.1998) (trial judge cannot be put in error on matter not presented to him for decision); *Walker*, 823 So.2d 557 (Miss.App.2002) (failure to raise issue at trial level bars consideration at appellant level). Therefore this assignment of error is procedurally barred from review by this Court. *Howard*, 507 So.2d 58, 63 (Miss.1987).

Alternatively, and without waiving any applicable bar, this issue is without merit. Victim impact evidence is admissible at sentencing. The United States Supreme Court endorsed the use of victim impact testimony in *Payne v. Tennessee*, 501 U.S. 808 (1991):

Victim impact evidence is simply another form or method of informing the sentencing authority about the specific harm caused by the crime in question, evidence of a general type long considered by sentencing authorities. We think the Booth court was wrong in stating that this kind of evidence leads to the arbitrary imposition of the death penalty. In the majority of cases, and in this case, victim impact evidence serves entirely legitimate purposes. In the event that evidence is introduced that is so unduly prejudicial that it renders the trial fundamentally unfair, the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment provides a mechanism for relief. *See Darden v. Wainwright*, 477 U.S. 168, 179-183, 106 S.Ct. 2464, 2470-2472, 91 L.Ed.2d 144 (1986).

Courts have always taken into consideration the harm done by the defendant in imposing sentence, and the evidence adduced in this case was illustrative of the harm caused by Payne's double murder.

We are now of the view that a State may properly conclude that for the jury to assess meaningfully the defendant's moral culpability and blameworthiness, it should have before it at the sentencing phase evidence of the specific harm caused by the defendant. "[T]he State has a legitimate interest in counteracting the mitigating evidence which the defendant is entitled to put in, by reminding the sentencer that just as the murderer should be considered as an individual, so too the victim is an individual whose death represents a unique loss to society and in particular to his family." *Booth*, 482 U.S. at 517, 107 S.Ct. at 2540 (WHITE, J., dissenting) (citation omitted). By turning the victim into a "faceless stranger at the penalty phase of a capital trial," *Gathers*, 490 U.S. at 821, 109 S.Ct. at 2216 (O'CONNOR, J., dissenting), Booth deprives the State of the full moral force of its evidence and may prevent the jury from having before it all the information necessary to determine the proper punishment for a first-degree murder.

Payne, Id. at 825.

i -

The Fifth Circuit has adopted the rationale of Payne:

In *Payne v. Tennessee*, the Supreme Court held that victim impact evidence is admissible to "show [...] each victim's uniqueness as an individual human being." 501 U.S. 808, 823-27, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115 L.ED.2d 720 (1991). "Victim impact evidence is [a] method of informing the sentencing authority about the specific harm caused by the crime in question, evidence of a general type long considered by sentencing authorities." *Id.* at 825, 111 S.Ct. 2597. Evidence "about the victim and about the impact of the murder on the victim's family is relevant to the jury's decision as to whether or not the death penalty should be imposed. There is no reason to treat such evidence differently than other relevant evidence is treated." *Id.* at 827, 111 S.Ct. at 2609. Victim impact evidence is admissible unless it "is so unduly prejudicial that it renders the trial fundamentally unfair" in violation of a defendant's Due Process rights. *Id.* at 825, 111 S.Ct. 2597; *see also Jones v. United States*, 527 U.S. 373, 401-02, 119 S.Ct. 2090, 144 L.Ed.2d 370 (1999).

U.S. v. Bernard, et al., 299 F.3d 467, 480-81 (5th Cir. 2002) (emphasis added) (noting that

improper characterizations of the defendant by the victims and requests for the jury to

sentence the victim to death are the types of evidence that are considered inadmissible on this subject but, nonetheless, holding the error harmless).

The Mississippi Legislature and this Court also have recognized the necessity of victim impact testimony. This Court adopted the Payne holding in *Hansen v. State*, and noted, "A state may legitimately conclude that evidence about the victim and about the impact of the murder on the victim's family is relevant to the jury's decision as to whether or not the death penalty should be imposed." *Hansen*, 592 So. 2d 114, 146 (Miss. 1991), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 1970, 118 L.Ed. 2d 570 (1992). Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-19-157(2)(a), while not specifically enumerating capital murder cases, allows for an oral victim impact statement at "any sentencing hearing" with the permission of the courts.

The State concedes that victim impact testimony is not limitless in its admissibility. However, in the case at hand the comment of Bennie Conlee amounts, at most, to harmless error. The facts in this case are similar to *U.S. v. Bernard*, 299 F.3d 467, 480-81 (5th Cir. 2002), in which the Fifth Circuit held that any improper characterizations of the defendant and requests for the jury to sentence the victim to death can constitute harmless error. In *Bernard*, the Fifth Circuit took issue with several victim impact statements in which the defendants were characterized as hard hearted individuals, who recklessly stole the lives of two innocent children. One witness asked the defendants why they committed the murders, stating, "there was no profit to be gained, no angry exchange, it was just a useless act of violence and a total disregard of life." Another told the defendants that they needed to be afraid because hell was a real place. *Id*.

£ .__

The Fifth Circuit held that such statements did constitute Booth error. However, it declined to reverse the convictions or sentences, holding that such brief statements did not unduly prejudice the jury, especially in light of the facts of the crime. The court also held that because the statements were irrelevant to the jury's sentencing determination, they could not have prejudiced the jury against the defendants. Finally, the court noted that the jury was instructed not to be swayed by passion, sympathy or prejudice, therefore, any error also was cured by the giving of such instruction. "Taken in context, the inadmissible portion of the victim impact testimony was short and minor compared to the crimes and the pathos of the admissible impact on the parents." *Bernard*, *Id*. at 481.

In this case, Bennie Conlee made a short comment in response to questioning during his brief testimony on direct. It is impossible to think the court, sitting as the trier of fact, would have been influenced by this one statement to the extent that he would have based a capital sentence entirely on it. Also, a look at the mountain of the evidence reviewed and detailed by the trial judge in formulating his well reasoned sentencing Order shows the sentence to have been imposed without the prejudice of any improper influences. As such, even if this issue were not procedurally barred, in light of the facts of this case, the objectivity and discipline displayed by the judge, and the totality of Mr. Conlee's testimony, this one statement was clearly harmless if it were error at all. This issue is due to be dismissed.

V. THERE WAS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR IN THIS CASE.

Finally, Wilson argues that the cumulative error in this case warrants reversal.

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